IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORID

CASE NO. 62,647

## STATE OF FLORIDA, and the

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Legislature in 1982 made significant amendments to Chapter 163 and Chapter 361, Florida Statutes, (1981) through passage of Chapter 82-53, Laws of Florida (1982).

Throughout this brief, wherever statutory sections of these chapters are cited, use of the words "as amended" refers to this section as amended by Chapter 82-53, Laws of Florida (1982).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Municipal Power Agency ("FMPA") purports to be a separate legal entity created under statutory authorization granted by Chapter 163, Part I, Florida Statutes, (sometimes referred to herein as the "Interlocal Act" and Chapter 361, Part II, Florida Statutes (sometimes referred to herein as the "Joint Power Act"). Both the Interlocal Act and Joint Power Act were substantially amended by the Florida Legislature through Chapter 82-53 Laws of Florida (1982). These enabling statutes seek to implement Article VII, Section 10(d), of the Florida Constitution.

The purpose of FMPA is to provide for the joint acquisition, construction and ownership of electric generating facilities by municipalities and other public entities in the State of Florida, either on their own or jointly with privately owned utilities.

FMPA is comprised of 26 governmental bodies which are either municipalities owning and operating electrical utility systems or separate municipal utility commissions or authorities.1

Pursuant to the above statutory authority, FMPA and Florida
Power and Light Corporation (FP&L) entered into the St. Lucie
Unit No. 2 Participation Agreement, as amended (hereafter sometimes referred to as the "Participation Agreement") and certain other agreements (sometimes hereafter referred to collectively as the Project Agreements). FMPA seeks to purchase an approximate 8.8 percent undivided interest in the St. Lucie Unit No. 2, a nuclear generating facility owned by FP&L and now under construction at

Hutchinson Island, St. Lucie County, Florida. The facility and certain other rights of FMPA to receive capacity and energy are defined in the Bond Resolution. Collectively these interests are referred to as the "St. Lucie Project."

Pursuant to its statutory authorization conferred by Chapter 82-53, Laws of Florida (1982), FMPA filed a Complaint (Appendix Tab A) in Circuit Court, in and for Leon County, on June 3, 1982, seeking to validate the initial issue of bonds not exceeding \$375,000,000 (Three Hundred Seventy-Five Million Dollars).

Pursuant to the Project Agreement, FMPA will use a portion of the proceeds of the bond issue to purchase its ownership interest in the St. Lucie Project. The remaining proceeds will be expended for payment of interest during construction, funded reserves, working capital, reload fuel and other items which are more particularly described in the Complaint and the exhibits filed in the lower court.

FMPA then proposes to sell portions of the capacity and energy in St. Lucie Generation to which it is entitled to FMPA members. These FMPA members are referred to as the "Project Participants." The Project Participants, will make payments to FMPA for the capacity and energy received pursuant to the Power Sales Contracts, between FMPA and each of the Project Participants. These contracts are hereafter referred to as the "Power Sales Contracts." Under the provisions of these contracts, each of the Project Participants will treat its payments for capacity and energy as operating expenses of their respective electric or

other integrated utility systems. FMPA will apply the payments made pursuant to these Power Sales Contracts to pay its share of operating expenses of the St. Lucie Project, the debt service on the Bonds, and for the maintenance of certain reserves.

In order to provide for payment of continuing operating expenses and debt service for any month in which the St. Lucie Project is inoperable or incapable of operating for such month, FMPA and each of the Project Participants have also entered into Project Support Contracts (the "Project Support Contracts") pursuant to which each of the Project Participants would pay TO FMPA its pro-rata share of these ongoing expenses for "any month of any Contract Year during which no Electric Capacity and Electric Energy from the St. Lucie Project was made available to the Project Participant." (Appendix Tab N, Section 1) The Project Support Contracts expressly provide that such payments would be junior and subordinate to payments to be made by such Project Participants under their outstanding debt instruments.

Certain Project Participants (the "Selling Systems"), have agreed, pursuant to the Capacity and Energy Sales Contracts, to sell their portion of capacity and energy to certain other Project Participants (the "Purchasing Systems"). The Selling Systems retain the right under the Capacity and Energy Sales Contracts to cancel such sales upon the giving of written notice to FMPA and the Purchasing Systems and would thereafter be entitled to receive the portion of capacity and energy previously sold to the Purchasing Systems.

Upon the filing of the validation complaint, the Circuit Court issued on June 4, 1982, its Order to Show Cause why the bond issue should not be validated. (Appendix Tab B) The State Attorney for the Second Judicial Circuit on June 14, 1982, filed an answer to the Complaint and an acknowledgment of service. Appendix Tab C). Acknowledgments of Service and Answers were also filed by all defendant parties to this action.

The Circuit Court held a final hearing in this cause on July 27, 1982. Final Judgment was entered by the Circuit Court on September 3, 1982, validating the bond issue. (Appendix Tab D) The State Attorney for the Second Judicial Circuit filed a Notice of Appeal on September 20, 1982, and this appeal followed.

For the purposes of this brief, all capitalized terms as set forth above and not otherwise defined shall have the same meaning as in the Exhibits and documents filed as an Appendix.

FMPA consists of the following member cities or utilities governing authorities: Alachua, Bartow, Bountstown, Bushnell, Clewiston, Fort Meade, Fort Pierce Utilities Authority, Gainesville Regional Utilities, Green Cove Springs, Homestead, Jacksonville Beach, Key West, Kissimmee, Lake Worth Utilities Authority, Leesburg, Moore Haven, Mount Dora, Newberry, New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission, Ocala, St. Cloud, Sebring Utilities Commission, Starke, Tallahassee, Vero Beach, Wauchula.

Not all FMPA Members are project participants. "Project Participants' are listed as follows: Alachua, Clewiston, Fort Meade, Fort Pierce Utilities Authority, Green Cove Springs, Homestead, Jacksonville Beach, Kissimmee, Lake Worth Utilties Authority, Leesburg, Moore Haven, New Smyrna Beach Utilities Commission, Newberry, Sebring Utilities Commission, Starke, Vero Beach.

### POINT I

THE PROVISIONS OF CHAPTER 163, PART I, AS AMENDED, AND 361, PART 11, AS AMENDED, FLORIDA STATUTES, PURSUANT TO WHICH FMPA ALLEGES ITS ORGANIZATION AND EXISTENCE, AND THE PROVISIONS OF THE PROJECT AGREEMENTS, THE POWER SALES CONTRACTS AND THE PROJECT SUPPORT CONTRACTS RELATING TO THE ST. LUCIE PROJECT ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Appellant's position is that the provisions of Chapter 163, Part I, and Chapter 361, Part 11, Florida Statutes, as amended by Chapter 82-53, Laws of Florida (1982) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Enabling Acts"), and the provisions of the St. Lucie Unit No. 2 Participation Agreement, the Reliability Exchange Agreement, the Replacement Power Agreement and the Tax Indemnity Agreement (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Project Agreements") and the provisions of the Power Sales Contracts and the Project Support Contracts are unconstitutional because (A) said statutes were improperly passed as a general law rather than as a special law; (B) said statutes and said contractual provisions authorize the pledge of public credit for private benefit; (C) said statutes and said contractual provisions result in a pledge of ad valorem taxation without a vote of the electorate; and (D) said statutes and said contractual provisions authorize the unlawful delegation of municipal power.

## A. General vs. Special Law

The Enabling Acts are unconstitutional because the statutes should have been adopted as special acts rather than as general laws. The Joint Power Act, Chapter 361, Florida Statutes, is a special act because rather than relating to the State as a whole,

it is, by definition, limited to electric utilities which owned, maintained or operated an electric energy generation, transmission or distribution system within the State of Florida on June 25, 1975. Section 361.11(2), Florida Statutes (1981). The class to which the statute relates is, accordingly, a closed class in that only electric utilities which were in operation on June 25, 1975 qualify to participate in joint electric power supply projects and no municipal or other utilities which become engaged in electric energy generation, transmission or distribution after June 25, 1975 may participate in such projects. Since these acts were not passed in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 11, Florida Statutes, relating to special laws, they are unconstitutional pursuant to Article 111, Section 10, Florida Constitution.

## B. Pledge of Public Credit

If the contemplated joint power project were implemented, FMPA would acquire an approximate 8.8% interest in St. Lucie Unit No. 2, a nuclear power plant in which FP&L, a private, investorowned utility would retain, vis-a-vis FMPA, an approximate 91.2% ownership interest. In connection with its acquisition of its percentage interest in St. Lucie Unit No. 2, FMPA has contracted in the Project Agreements to make certain payments to FP&L and the Project Participants have, in turn, pursuant to the Power Sales Contracts and Project Support Contracts, agreed to make certain payments to FMPA. The transaction thus effects an unconstitutional pledge of public credit for the benefit of FP&L.

The Florida Constitution in Article VII, Section 10, expressly prohibits the pledge of public credit for private benefit, providing:

Neither the state nor any county, school district, municipality, special district, or agency of any of them, shall become a joint owner with, or stockholder of, or give, lend or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person but this shall not prohibit laws authorizing:

(d) a municipality, county, special district, or agency of any of them, being a joint owner of, giving, or lending or using its taxing power or credit for the joint ownership, construction and operation of electrical energy generating or transmission facilities with any corporation, association, partnership or person.

Initially, it should be noted that although it appears that subdivision (d) of Article VII, Section 10 excludes the present transaction from the general provisions of this constitutional provision, it does not appear that the State Legislature intended that transactions effectuated under the Joint Power Act would be exempt from this constitutional provision. Section 361.17 of the Joint Power Act states as follows:

Except as provided in § 10, Art. VII of the State Constitution, no joint electric supply projects authorized under this statute shall lend or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person. The private interest portion of such joint projects shall be subject to all taxation in accordance with their proportionate interest in such projects.

Because this transaction is authorized by the Joint Power Act, as well as the Interlocal Act, based upon the above quoted provision, this transaction should not be exempt from the lending of credit prohibition contained in Article VII, Section 10.

The Florida courts have ruled on the question of what constitutes an illegal loan of credit. In Wald v. Sarasota County

Health Facilities Authority, 360 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1978), the court
stated:

The word "credit" as used in Fla. Const. Art. VII, § 10 (1968), implies the imposition of some new financial liability upon the State or a political subdivision which in effect results in the creation of a State or political subdivision debt for the benefit of private enterprises.

In order to have a gift, loan or use of public credit, the public must be either directly or contingently liable to pay something to somebody. [Id. at 768.1]

It is Appellant's position that the provisions of the Participation Agreement permitting FP&L to sell power produced by FMPA's share in St. Lucie Unit No. 2 (as defined in the Bond Resolution, Appendix Tab L, Section 101) upon default of FMPA, the granting to FP&L of an option to purchase FMPA's share in St. Lucie Unit No. 2 upon default of FMPA as well as the rights and obligations of FMPA under the default provisions of the Project Agreements, and the provisions of the Enabling Acts authorizing such contractual provisions, violate the provisions of Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution.

Sections 33.4.1 and 33.4.3 of the Participation Agreement provide as follows:

within 30 days after issuance of a final order or decision declaring Owner [FMPA] in default, Company [FP&L] may suspend the right of the defaulting Owner to receive all or any part of its Ownership Percentage of the Net Energy....

[i]f default by Participant [FMPA] continues for 180 days after Company has provided notice of default, Company shall have the option, but no obligation, to purchase Participant's interest in St. Lucie Unit No. 2.

(Appendix Tab G).

FMPA is expressly authorized by Section 163.01(15)(b)(1), Florida Statutes, as amended, of the Interlocal Act to include in its contracts such default provisions. However, this statutory provision and the quoted contractual provision entered into pursuant thereto violate the loan of credit prohibition of Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution because the default provisions could result in a lending of credit by the Project Participants to FP&L. Upon default by FMPA, FMPA could have its right to receive energy from the St. Lucie Unit No. 2 suspended or its interest in St. Lucie Unit No. 2 purchased by FP&L. such a case, the Project Participants will lose their right to receive energy from the St. Lucie Project, either temporarily or permanently. They will have to obtain alternative, and possibly more expensive, energy while continuing to make payments to FMPA under the Project Supports Contracts for such items as their portion of payments FMPA must make on its Bonds. In essence, the default by FMPA creates additional liabilities for the Project Participants. The default provisions of the Participation Agreement violate the spirit of Article VII, Section 10 of the Constitution.

Subdivision (d) of Article VII, Section 10, does not save the default provisions, because it merely permits a lending of credit "for the joint ownership, construction and operation" of an electric project; it does not intend that a private enterprise can benefit upon the default of a municipality or municipal agency merely because the default is in connection with the

ownership or operation of such facility. Since the exception created in Subdivision (d) of Article VII, Section 10 is, accordingly, not applicable, the general rule against the pledge of public credit for private benefit should control.

The provision of the Power Sales Contracts commonly known as a "step-up" provision which operates upon default by one or more of the Project Participants on their obligations to FMPA violates the pledge of credit constitutional provisions.

Section 19(c) of the Power Sales Contracts (Appendix Tab M) provides that:

In the event less than all of a defaulting Project Participant's Power Entitlement Share shall be accepted by the nondefaulting Project Participants pursuant to clause (a) or sold pursuant to clause (b) of this Section, FMPA shall transfer, on a pro rata basis (based on original Power Entitlement Share), to all other Project Participants which are not in default, the remaining portion of such defaulting Project Participant's Power Entitlement Share; provided, however, that in no event shall any transfer of any part of a defaulting Project Participant's Power Entitlement Share pursuant to clause (c) of this Section result in a transferee Project Participant having a Power Entitlement Share (including transfers to such transferee Project Participant pursuant to clause (a) of this Section ) in excess of 125% of its original Power Entitlement Share.

While this "step-up" provision is expressly authorized by Section 163.01(15)(b)1, Florida Statutes, as amended, it is the position of the State of Florida, that, the step-up provision in the Power Sales Contracts is contrary to the Florida Constitution.

Appellant maintains that the step-up provision constitutes an illegal loan of credit of the Project Participants, because upon the default of another Project Participant, the remaining

Project Participants may be forced to pay to FMPA the amount of the defaulting Project Participants' obligations so that FMPA will be able to continue to make payments to FP&L. The non-defaulting Project Participants assume the liability of the defaulting Project Participant, effecting a loan of credit to such entities.

The "take or pay" provisions of the Project Support Contracts also result in an unconstitutional lending of credit.

Section 3(h) of the Project Support Contracts (Appendix Tab N) provides that:

In order to induce the purchase from time to time of the Bonds to be issued by FMPA in respect of the St. Lucie Project and any interest coupons appertaining thereto by all who shall at any time become holders thereof, the obligation of the Project Participant to make Project Support Payments shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be dependent upon performance of FMPA under the Power Sales Contract or this Project Support Contract; Power Sales Payments shall be made whether or not St. Lucie Unit No. 2 is completed, operable or operating and notwithstanding the suspension, interruption, interference, reduction or curtailment of the output of St. Lucie Unit No. 2 or otherwise from the St. Lucie Project for any reason whatsoever in whole or in part, and such Project Support Payments shall not be subject to any reduction, whether by offset, counterclaim or otherwise.

The take or pay provisions of the Project Support Contracts, in substance, effect a lending of credit to another entity. If the St. Lucie Project becomes inoperable, there will be no energy produced by the Project which could produce revenues for FMPA and, in turn, for the Project Participants, but the Project Participants will still have to make payments in order to enable FMPA to make its required payments to FP&L and to pay any Bonds issued for the St. Lucie Project. Indeed, if there has also then

been a default by one or more Project Participants, the remaining Project Participants' share of such payments may be increased beyond their original pro rata share pursuant to the step-up provisions of the Power Sales Contracts discussed above. Effectively, this is a loan of municipal credit in violation of Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution.

In addition, the indemnification provisions of the Participation Agreement violate Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution. Under Section 6.1 of the Participation Agreement the parties agree that FMPA's cost of acquiring an interest in St. Lucie Unit No. 2 will include a pro rata share of the Federal and state income taxes that will be assessed against FP&L as a result of the transfer of an interest in the St. Lucie Project to FMPA. Appellant recognizes that such a provision is authorized by Section 163.01(15)(b)(9), Florida Statutes, as amended, which provides that a participation agreement may include:

Provisions obligating any such public agency, legal entity, or both, to indemnify, including, without limitation, indemnification against the imposition or collection of local, state or federal taxes and interest or penalties related thereto, or payments made in lieu thereof....

Despite the foregoing statutory authorization, Appellant contends that the tax indemnification provision should be held invalid as violative of the Florida Constitution.

In addition, Section 25 of the Participation Agreement (Appendix Tab G) provides that FMPA will indemnify for FP&L's negligence. FMPA's agreement to indemnify FP&L for taxes and for FP&L's negligence or the negligence of its employees or agents

constitutes an unconstitutional pledge of public credit for private benefit because FMPA and the Project Participants will be assuming liability for the obligations of FP&L.

# <u>C. Pledge of Ad Valorem Taxation Without a Vote of the Electorate</u>.

The Enabling Acts, the Interlocal Agreement, the Bond Resolution, the Project Agreements, the Power Sales Contracts and the Project Support Contracts are invalid because they effect a pledge of ad valorem taxation without the vote of the electorate. Article VII, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution authorizes municipalities or certain other entities with taxing power to issue bonds payable from ad valorem taxation to finance capital projects only upon an affirmative vote of the electorate.

Counties, school districts, municipalities, special districts and local government bodies with taxing powers may issue bonds, certificates of indebtedness or any form of tax anticipation certificates, payable from ad valorem taxation and maturing more than twelve months after issuance only:

(a) to finance or refinance capital projects authorized by law and only when approved by vote of the electors who are owners of freeholds therein not wholly exempt from taxaton; ....

It may be contended that this constitutional restriction is not applicable to FMPA because it is not the type of entity subject to the provisions of Article VII, Section 12. Although FMPA is not a municipality or an entity with taxing power, FMPA, nevertheless, should be subject to these constitutional restrictions. In this context, the court should consider the composition of FMPA and the substance of the transaction. The members of

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