NOV 15 1982

BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF



CASE NO. 62,647

# STATE OF FLORIDA, and the

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

# **ARGUMENT**

# POINT I

THE ENABLING ACTS UNDER WHICH FMPA WAS ORGANIZED AND EXISTS AND THE BOND RESOLUTION, PROJECT AGREEMENTS, POWER SALES AND PROJECT SUPPORT CONTRACTS ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

The provisions of the Enabling Acts and the St. Lucie Unit
No. 2 Participation Agreement, the Reliability Exchange Agreement,
the Replacement Power Agreement and the Tax Indemnity Agreement
("Project Agreements") and the Bond Resolution, Power Sales and
Project Support Contracts are constitutional since (A) the statutes were properly enacted as general rather than special laws;
(B) the statutes and contracts do not unlawfully pledge the
public credit; (C) the statutes and contracts do not result in a
pledge of ad valorem taxation without voter approval; and (D)
the statutes and contracts do not unlawfully delegate municipal
powers.

## A. GENERAL V. SPECIAL LAW.

The first constitutional issue raised is that the Enabling Acts should have been passed as special laws pursuant to Sections 11.02-11.04, Fla. Stat. (1981). However, the Enabling Acts are of general applicability and were properly adopted by the Legislature.

The traditional criterion for distinguishing a general law from a special law is whether it relates to "persons and things of a class" rather than to "particular persons or things within a class." Carter v. Norman, 38 So.2d 30 (Fla. 1948). Collier v. Cassady, 63 Fla. 390, 57 So. 617 (1912) described the issue as whether it is "potentially applicable to all political subdivisions

of the same class," even though at the time of its passage, it applies to only some of them. By these standards, the Enabling Acts are clearly general laws, for they potentially encompass every electric utility in the State on June 25, 1975, which is, or may in the future become, a participant in a joint power project.

The State Attorney contends that the Enabling Acts are special laws because they are limited in applicability to a closed class consisting of electric utilities in operation on June 25, 1975. This contention is without merit. State v. Florida State Turnpike Authority, 80 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1955), dealt with a general law which authorized the construction of a turnpike between Broward and St. Lucie counties. The application of the law was thus limited to the "closed class" of Florida counties i.e., those through which the turnpike would pass. court found that the "very nature of the Act rescued it from [the] category of special law, " for it formed a part of the highway network which facilitates travel for the tourist industry and Florida business in general and potentially affected the entire state, directly or indirectly. 80 So. 2d at 344. Analogously, the Project will form part of a statewide network of electric generation and transmission facilities of direct and indirect benefit to the State as a whole. State v. City of Miami Beach, 234 So.2d 103 (Fla. 1970) involved a law permitting the levy of a resort tax in counties within a specified population bracket whose charters authorized, as of a date certain, such a tax. This Court held the statute to be general rather than special, although its application extended to only those counties qualifying on the specified date. The court again found statewide

benefit and reasoned that the law was general in view of "this state's interest in the promotion and further development of the tourist industry." 234 So.2d at 106. FMPA suggests that these precedents are controlling and the Enabling Acts were properly adopted as general laws.

#### B. PLEDGE OF PUBLIC CREDIT.

The State Attorney asserts that the Enabling Acts contravene the constitutional prohibition on the loan of credit contained in Article VII, Section 10, Fla. Const. The Enabling Acts and the various agreements applicable to the St. Lucie Project (hereinafter referred to as the "Project") are constitutional because they fall squarely within the exception to the prohibition contained in Section 10(d) which sanctions laws authorizing:

(d) a municipality, county, special district, or agency of any of them, being a joint owner of, giving, or lending or using its taxing power or credit for the joint ownership, construction and operation of electrical energy generating or transmission facilities with any corporation, association, partnership or person. [Emphasis added].

The State Attorney contends that the Project is not exempt from the loan of credit prohibition because Section 361.17 of the Joint Power Act implies that the transactions effected under such Act are not governed by Section 10(d). FMPA asserts Section 361.17 was enacted to insure that private utilities could not utilize the Joint Power Act to become exempt from taxation. The Joint Power Act and the 1982 Amendments provide that their purpose is to implement the provisions of Article VII, Section 10(d). Section 361.10, Fla. Stat. (1981); Section 8 of Chapter 82-53, Laws of Fla., (1982). Thus, the Legislature has clearly expressed its intention that the Enabling Acts and joint projects

shall be encompassed within the joint power project exception to Article VII, Section 10.

Even if Section 10(d) were inapplicable and the transaction were subject to the constitutional prohibition, a close review of the Enabling Acts, and the various agreements for the project reveals that there is no pledge of the credit of the members of FMPA participating in the Project (the "Participants"). FMPA has no taxing powers and is prohibited from obligating the Participants to levy taxes. §163.01(7)(c), Fla. Stat., as amended. In addition, the Participants have not pledged any tax or general revenues for payment of their obligations under the Power Sales and Project Support Contracts. As discussed at Point I(C), under the the Bond Resolution and Contracts, the Participants are required to make payments solely from the revenues of their utility systems.

The Florida courts have consistently held that the loan of credit prohibition does not apply when: (1) there is a paramount public purpose to the debt issuance and (2) the bonds are payable from revenues from a "special fund" so that the municipality is not obligated to levy taxes. See State v. Tampa Sport Authority, 188 So.2d 795 (Fla. 1966); State v. City of Jacksonville, 53 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1951); State v. City of Miami, 113 Fla. 280, 152 So. 6 (1933). The Project and the related Bonds serve a paramount public purpose in securing reliable cost-efficient electric energy for the citizens of Florida and reducing dependence on foreign oil. (See Testimony of C. Henze, Transcript pp. 12-13, App. Tab S). The Florida Legislature recognized this by the passage of the Joint Power Act and the unanimous passage of the 1982 Amendments. The "special fund" doctrine states that the

loan of credit prohibition is inapplicable where bonds are payable solely from a specific source of funds rather than general tax revenues. See Wald v. Sarasota County Health Facilities Authority, 360 So.2d 763, 768 (Fla. 1978). The source of payments by FMPA to the Bondholders are payments made by the Participants under the Power Sales and Project Support Contracts and the Participants are only obligated to make such payments from the revenues of their electric systems. FMPA's Bonds are thus payable from a special fund.

The State Attorney next argues that the default provisions of the Participation Agreement violate the loan of credit prohibition. In the event of a default by FMPA, Section 33.4.1 of the Participation Agreement provides that FP&L may suspend FMPA's right to receive power and energy from the Project and Section 33.4.3 gives FP&L the option to purchase FMPA's interest in the Project in the event of default. Such default provisions are authorized by Section 163.01(15)(b) (1) and (2), Fla. Stat. Further, the default provisions do not result in either a direct or indirect pledge of the taxing power or credit of FMPA or any Participant. FMPA does not possess any taxing power and cannot compel the Participants to levy taxes to satisfy their obligations under the Power Sales and Project Support Contracts. §163.01(7)(c) and Point I(C). Section 4(q) of the Power Sales Contracts and Section 3(i) of the Project Support Contracts expressly state that the Participants are not "obligated or compelled to levy ad valorem taxes to make payments" thereunder. The default provisions are valid contractual provisions which are authorized by statute and should be upheld.

The State Attorney argues that Section 19(c) of the Power Sales Contracts (App. Tab M) which requires an assumption by the remaining Participants of a portion of the Power Entitlement Share and related payment obligations of a defaulting Participant, known as "step-up" provision, violates Article VII, Section 10, Fla. Const. (such assumption also extends to obligations under the Project Support Contracts). The "step-up" is limited to 125% of a Participant's original entitlement share and becomes operative only if other Participants do not voluntarily assume the share of the defaulting Participant. There is statutory authorization for Section 19(c) at Section 163.01(15)(b)1, Fla. Stat.

In Frank v. City of Cody, 572 P.2d 1106 (Wyo. 1977), the step-up provision in an agreement between a corporation and participants in a joint municipal agency was challenged as constituting a "lending or giving of the credit of the Agency to a private corporation ..." 572 P.2d at 1111. The court rejected such contention, stating:

While ... the agreement...does provide for making up deficiencies created by a defaulting participant, it also provides that a pro rata share of the portion in System entitlements, owned by the defaulter, shall accrue to the benefit of the other participants. This neutralizes any concept of giving or lending credit to anyone since something is received in return. The constitutional prohibition against a municipality lending its credit to a private corporation has no application when there is an exchange of consideration between the parties. [572 P.2d at 1111-12]

See also Cremer v. Peoria Housing Authority, 339 Ill. 579, 78 N.E. 2d 276 (1948); Bair v. Layton City Corporation, 6 Utah 2d 138, 307 P.2d 895 (1957); Los Angeles Gas & Electric Corporation v. City of Los Angeles, 188 Cal. 307, 205 P. 125 (1922), all of which upheld a "step-up" provision.

As in Frank v. City of Cody, the Power Sales Contracts increase the non-defaulting Participants' entitlements to capacity and energy corresponding to the increase in the obligations for which they are responsible. The assumption of additional shares in the Project by non-defaulting Participants will keep the Project a viable source of electricity for such non-defaulting Participants. A default by one Participant could result in FMPA defaulting under the Participation Agreement and on the Bonds and all the Participants losing their right to obtain energy from the Project. The purpose of the Florida statutes authorizing the joint participation in electric projects is to permit electric utilities to share both the benefits and associated economic risks derived from the pooling of their revenues and resources, for the ultimate benefit of the Participants' consumers. Thus, the "step-up" provision of the Power Sales Contracts is valid because it is authorized by statute, does not result in an unconstitutional pledge of credit, and serves a public purpose.

The provision of the Project Support Contracts providing for payments by the Participants regardless of project completion or operation and regardless of level of operation are constitutional. Section 163.01(15)(b)(7), Fla. Stat. expressly authorizes "take or pay" provisions, and case law provides independent support for their validity.

Although there is no Florida case law directly on point, courts in other jurisdictions have concluded that where payments on the contracts are derived only from revenues of a project or a "special fund," take or pay contracts are valid and enforceable.

See, Board of Commissioners of Louisiana Municipal Power Commission v. All Taxpayers, 360 So.2d 863 (La. 1978) (unconditional obligation

to pay for power upheld since payments were to come solely from revenues of municipal electric systems); Murray City Corp. v. Brown, No. 79-16808 (Utah Jan. 25, 1980) State ex rel Mitchell v. City of Sikeston, 555 S.W. 2d 281 (Mo. 1977) (en banc) (take or pay contract upheld where the municipalities' obligations were payable solely from the revenues generated from the sale of electricity); Barlow v. Clearfield City Corp., 1 Utah 2d 419, 268 P.2d 682 (1954) (unconditional obligation to make payments for water found reasonable use of city's funds since city needed the water and there was no proof of bad faith); 56 Am. Jur. 2d, Municipal Corporations \$648 (1971). The arguments used in these cases to uphold such contracts in other jurisdictions appear in Florida case law. Numerous Florida cases have recognized the special fund doctrine.' This Court should validate the take or pay provisions on the grounds that the take or pay provisions are authorized by the Legislature and they are secured solely by a special fund -- the revenues of the Participants' electric systems.

The State Attorney also argues that FMPA's agreement to indemnify FP&L for taxes and for its negligence in the Participation Agreement violate Article VII, Section 10. As discussed in Point I (C), because FMPA has no taxing power and such indemnity payments will be made solely from revenues of the Participants' electric systems, there is no use of taxing power to benefit FP&L.

<sup>2</sup> State v. City of Miami, 113 Fla. 280, 152 So. 6 (1933); Wald v. Sarasota County Health Facilities Authority, 360 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 1978); Nohrr v. Brevard County of Educational Facilities Authority, 247 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1971); State v. City of Pensacola, 135 Fla. 239, 184 So. 768; 13 Fla. Jur. 2d Counties \$280 (1979).

#### C. PLEDGE OF AD VALOREM TAXATION WITHOUT VOTER APPROVAL.

Article VII, Section 12, Fla. Const. authorizes municipalities and certain other entities with taxing power to issue indebtedness payable from ad valorem taxation only upon voter approval. FMPA is not subject to the constitutional referendum requirement of Article VII, Section 12, because it is not expressly included in the list of entities subject to such provision, It is a separate legal entity -- separate from the municipalities, boards, commisions or authorities which are its members. In addition, FMPA has no taxing power and it cannot obligate its members to utilize their taxing power to meet their obligations under the Power Sales and Project Support Contracts. In addition, Section 4(g) of the Power Sales Contracts and Section 3(i) of the Project Support Contracts state that the Participants are not obligated to utilize taxing power to make payments under such contracts.

Even if Article VII, Section 12 were applicable to FMPA, the present transaction in no way violates such constitutional provision. This provision does not require voter approval where indebtedness is payable solely from sources other than ad valorem taxes and does not otherwise pledge the municipalities' taxing power. State v. Orange County, 281 So.2d 310 (Fla. 1973); Orange County Civic Facilities Auth. v. State, 286 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1973). This Court has held that Article VII, Section 12 does not apply where bonds are payable from revenues of a project.

This Court very early held that article IX, section 6 of the Constitution of 1885 [the predecessor of Article VII, Section 123 did not require a referendum when bonds were proposed to be sold to finance construction of a public works project that...would generate revenue sufficient to repay the bonds without any supplemental allocations of

tax revenues to that purpose. [State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency, 392 So. 2d 875, 897 (Fla. 1980).]

See also Hope v. City of Gainesville, 195 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1967).

Several cases also hold that indebtedness issued to pay for a utility which is to be paid solely from the income of such utility does not violate Article VII, Section 12. E.g., State v. City of Jacksonville, 159 Fla. 328, 31 So.2d 385 (1947),

State v. City of Pensacola, 143 Fla. 823, 197 So. 520 (1940).

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